
 

 

OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK  
DAWN M. JONES, CITY CLERK  

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:                  MEMBERS OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

FROM:            DAWN M. JONES, CITY CLERK  

DATE:             THURSDAY, AUGUST 18, 2022 

SUBJECT:      COMMITTEE MEETING NOTICE  

 
The following Common Council Committee Meetings have been scheduled for Monday, 

August 22, 2022:  

  

Council Chambers 

4th Floor County-City Building 

227 W. Jefferson Blvd. 

South Bend, IN 46601 

 

The Council Chambers will be Open to the Public or Members of the Public May Attend this 

Meeting Virtually via Microsoft Teams Meeting app here: https://tinyurl.com/082222CC. 

   

4:00 P.M.   
COMMUNITY 

INVESTMENT 
CHAIRPERSON, TOMAS MORGAN 

    
Bill No. 22-41 – Tax Abatement Confirming 505 S. Michigan St. 

Monreaux, LLC  

4:15 P.M.   
ZONING & 

ANNEXATION 
CHAIRPERSON, HAMANN 

    

Bill No. 30-22 – Amending Zoning Ordinance for 1335 E. Ireland & 

4427 S. Brookton  
Bill No. 36-22 – Amending Zoning Ordinance for 300 St. Louis 

Blvd.   
Bill No. 38-22 – Amending Zoning Ordinance for 232  

https://tinyurl.com/082222CC
http://docs.southbendin.gov/WebLink/0/doc/356492/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/WebLink/0/doc/356487/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/WebLink/0/doc/356488/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356610/Page1.aspx


 
Council Vice-President Sheila Niezgodski has called an Informal Meeting of the Council which 

will commence immediately after the adjournment of the Zoning and Annexation Committee 

Meeting. 

  

INFORMAL MEETING OF THE 

COMMON COUNCIL 
VICE-PRESIDENT, SHEILA 

NIEZGODSKI 

         1. Discussion of Council Agenda 

         2. Update and Announcements 

         3. Adjournment 
  

 

 

 

cc: Mayor James Mueller 

     Committee Meeting 

     List Media 

   

 

 

NOTICE FOR HEARING AND SIGHT-IMPAIRED PERSONS 

Auxiliary Aid or Other Services may be Available upon Request at No Charge. 

Please give Reasonable Advance Request when Possible 

  



 

 

South Bend Common Council 

 

Meeting Agenda 
Monday, August 22, 2022 

7:00 PM 

 

The South Bend Common Council meeting will be open to the public  

at the Council Chambers on the 4th floor of the County-City Building, 227 W. 

Jefferson Blvd., South Bend, IN 46601 

or available by way of a virtual meeting using the Microsoft Teams Meeting 

App. Public access to the meeting can be granted by this Microsoft Teams 

Link: https://tinyurl.com/082222SBCC 
  

1. INVOCATION 

TBD 

 

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

3. ROLL CALL 

 

4. REPORT FROM SUB-COMMITTEE ON MINUTES 

JUNE 13, 2022, JUNE 27, 2022 

JULY 11, 2022, JULY 25, 2022 

 

 

5. SPECIAL BUSINESS 

SPECIAL RESOLUTION FOR CONGRESSPERSON JACKIE WALORSKI 

 

 

6. REPORTS FROM CITY OFFICES 

 

https://tinyurl.com/082222SBCC


7. COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

BILL NO. 

30-22 PUBLIC HEARING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF THE SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, 

AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE FOR PROPERTY LOCATED 

1335 EAST IRELAND AND 4427 SOUTH BROOKTON, 

COUNCILMANIC DISTRICT NO. 5 IN THE CITY OF SOUTH BEND, 

INDIANA  
 

36-22 PUBLIC HEARING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF THE SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, 

AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE FOR PROPERTY LOCATED 

300 ST LOUIS BLVD. COUNCILMANIC DISTRICT NO. 4 IN THE 

CITY OF SOUTH BEND, INDIANA 

  
 

38-22 PUBLIC HEARING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF THE SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, 

AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE FOR PROPERTY LOCATED 

232 LAPORTE AVE COUNCILMANIC DISTRICT NO. 1 IN THE CITY 

OF SOUTH BEND, INDIANA 

  
 

 

 

8. RISE AND REPORT 

 

9. REGULAR MEETING RECONVENED  

 

10. BILLS ON THIRD READING 

BILL NO. 

30-22 THIRD READING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF THE SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, AMENDING THE 

ZONING ORDINANCE FOR PROPERTY LOCATED 1335 EAST 

IRELAND AND 4427 SOUTH BROOKTON, COUNCILMANIC 

DISTRICT NO. 5 IN THE CITY OF SOUTH BEND, INDIANA 

  
 

36-22 THIRD READING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF THE SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, AMENDING THE 

ZONING ORDINANCE FOR PROPERTY LOCATED 300 ST LOUIS 

BLVD. COUNCILMANIC DISTRICT NO. 4 IN THE CITY OF SOUTH 

BEND, INDIANA 

  
 

38-22 THIRD READING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF THE SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, AMENDING THE 

ZONING ORDINANCE FOR PROPERTY LOCATED 232 LAPORTE 

http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356487/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356488/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356610/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356487/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356488/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356610/Page1.aspx


AVE COUNCILMANIC DISTRICT NO. 1 IN THE CITY OF SOUTH 

BEND, INDIANA 

  
 

 

 

11. RESOLUTIONS 

BILL NO. 

22-41 A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF THE 

SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, CONFIRMING THE ADOPTION OF A 

DECLARATORY RESOLUTION DESIGNATING CERTAIN AREAS 

WITHIN THE CITY OF SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, COMMONLY 

KNOWN AS 505 S MICHIGAN ST., SOUTH BEND, IN 46601 AS AN 

ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION AREA FOR PURPOSES OF AN 

EIGHT (8) YEAR MIXED-USE REAL PROPERTY TAX ABATEMENT 

FOR THE MONREAUX,  LLC  
  

 

 

 

12. BILLS OF FIRST READING 

BILL NO. 

40-22 FIRST READING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF THE SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, APPROVING A 

PETITION OF THE ADVISORY BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS FOR 

THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1702 W WESTERN AVE 

COUNCILMANIC DISTRICT NO. 6 IN THE CITY OF SOUTH BEND, 

INDIANA 

  
 

41-22 FIRST READING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF THE SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, AMENDING THE 

ZONING ORDINANCE FOR PROPERTY LOCATED 1345 N. 

MICHIGAN ST., COUNCILMANIC DISTRICT NO. 4 IN THE CITY OF 

SOUTH BEND, INDIANA 

  
 

42-22 FIRST READING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF THE SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, REPLACING AND 

AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 2-1 THROUGH 

AND INCLUDING 2-9, OF THE SOUTH BEND MUNICIPAL CODE TO 

UPDATE AND CLARIFY PROCEDURES FOR THE SOUTH BEND 

COMMON COUNCIL AND THE OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK  

  
 

43-22 FIRST READING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF THE SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, AMENDING 

VARIOUS ARTICLES AND SECTIONS OF  CHAPTER 17 OF THE 

SOUTH BEND MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADDRESS LATE FEES FOR 

CITY UTILITY CUSTOMERS AND RENAMING THE “LOW-INCOME 

http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356492/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356489/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356490/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356484/Page1.aspx
http://docs.southbendin.gov/weblink/0,0,0/doc/356491/Page1.aspx


CUSTOMER ASSISTANCE PROGRAM” (LICAP) AS THE “UTILITY 

ASSISTANCE PROGRAM” (UAP)    

 

  
 

 

 

13. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

14. NEW BUSINESS 

 

15. PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR 

 

16. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Notice for Hearing and Sight Impaired Persons:  

Auxiliary aid or other services are available upon request at no charge.  

Please give reasonable advance request if and when possible.  

 



2022 COMMON COUNCIL STANDING COMMITTEES (Rev. 05-17-2022) 

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 
Oversees the various activities of the Department of Community Investment.  This Committee reviews all 

real and personal tax abatement requests and works closely with the Business Development Team. 

Rachel Tomas Morgan, Chairperson Eli Wax, Member  

Henry Davis, Jr., Vice-Chairperson  Kaine Kanczuzewski, Citizen Member 

Thomas Kurzhal, Citizen Member 

COMMUNITY RELATIONS COMMITTEE 

Oversees the various activities of the Engagement and Economic Empowerment, Neighborhood 

Development, and Community Resources Teams within the City’s Department of CI and is charged with 

facilitating partnerships and ongoing communications with other public and private entities operating within 

the City. 

Troy Warner, Chairperson  Canneth Lee, Member 

Eli Wax, Vice-Chairperson  Lori K. Hamann, Member 

Citizen Member 

COUNCIL RULES COMMITTEE 

Oversees the regulations governing the overall operation of the Common Council, as well as all matters of 

public trust.  Its duties are set forth in detail in Section 2-10.1 of the South Bend Municipal Code. 

   Sharon L. McBride, Member Eli Wax, Member 

   Sheila Niezgodski, Member 

HEALTH AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 

Oversees the various activities performed by the Fire and Police Departments, EMS, Department of Code 

Enforcement, ordinance violations, and related health and public safety matters. 

Eli Wax, Chairperson Troy Warner, Member 

Karen L. White, Vice-Chairperson Canneth Lee, Member 

Rachel Tomas Morgan, Member Desmont Upchurch, Citizen Member 

INFORMATION AND TECHNOLOGY COMMITTEE- Innovation 

Oversees the various activities of the City’s Department of Innovation, which includes the Divisions of 

Information Technology and 311 so that the City of South Bend remains competitive and on the cutting edge 

of developments in this area.  Reviewing and proposing upgrades to computer systems and web sites, 

developing availability and access to GIS data and related technologies are just some of its many activities. 

Rachel Tomas Morgan, Chairperson Canneth Lee, Member 

Lori K. Hamann, Vice-Chairperson Scott Matthew Coats, Citizen Member 

Maria Gibbs, Citizen Member 

PARC COMMITTEE- Venues Parks and Arts (Parks, Recreation, Cultural Arts & Entertainment) 

Oversees the various activities of the Century Center, College Football Hall of Fame, Four Winds Stadium, 

Morris Performing Arts Center, Studebaker National Museum, South Bend Regional Museum of Art, 

Potawatomi Zoo, My SB Trails, DTSB relations, and the many recreational and leisure activities offered by 

the Department of Venues Parks and Arts. 

Canneth Lee, Chairperson Henry Davis, Jr., Member 

Troy Warner, Vice-Chairperson Rachel Tomas Morgan, Member 

Chris Hagstrom-Jones, Citizen Member Citizen Member



PERSONNEL AND FINANCE COMMITTEE 

Oversees the activities performed by the Department of Administration and Finance, and reviews all proposed 

salaries, budgets, appropriations, and other fiscal matters, as well as personnel policies, health benefits and 

related matters. 

Sheila Niezgodski, Chairperson    Troy Warner, Member 

Eli Wax, Vice-Chairperson  Henry Davis, Jr., Member 

Rachel Tomas Morgan, Member  Aaron Steiner, Citizen Member 

PUBLIC WORKS AND PROPERTY VACATION COMMITTEE 

Oversees the various activities performed by the Building Department, the Department of Public Works and 

related public works and property vacation issues. 

Sheila Niezgodski, Chairperson Karen L. White, Member 

Lori K. Hamann, Vice-Chairperson Carl Littrell, Citizen Member 

Jason Piontek, Citizen Member 

RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS COMMITTEE 

Oversees the various activities and issues related to neighborhood development and enhancement. 

Karen L. White, Chairperson Henry Davis, Jr., Member 

Canneth Lee, Vice-Chairperson      Sheila Niezgodski, Member 

Amika Micou, Citizen Member  Citizen Member 

UTILITIES COMMITTEE 

Oversees the activities of all enterprise entities including but not limited to the Bureau of Waterworks, Bureau 

of Sewers, and all related matters. 

Henry Davis, Jr., Chairperson Eli Wax, Member 

Troy Warner, Vice-Chairperson Lori K. Hamann, Member 

Citizen Member   Citizen Member 

ZONING AND ANNEXATION COMMITTEE 

Oversees the activities related to the Board of Zoning Appeals, recommendations from the Area Plan 

Commission and the Historic Preservation Commission, as well as all related matters addressing annexation 

and zoning. 

Lori K. Hamann, Chairperson Sheila Niezgodski, Member 

Henry Davis, Jr., Vice-Chairperson Karen L. White, Member 

James Snodgrass, Citizen Member 

________________ 

SUB-COMMITTEE ON MINUTES 

Reviews the minutes prepared by the Office of the City Clerk of the regular, special, and informal meetings 

of the Common Council and makes a recommendation on their approval/modification to the Council. 

Troy Warner, Member  Eli Wax, Member 



 

 

 

2022 COMMON COUNCIL STANDING COMMITTEES (Rev.01-06-2022) 

 

CANNETH LEE, 1ST District Council Member 

Chairperson, Committee of the Whole 
PARC Committee, Chairperson Health & Public Safety Committee, Member 

Residential Neighborhoods Committee, Vice-Chairperson Information & Technology Committee, Member  

Community Relations Committee, Member  

              

HENRY DAVIS, JR. 2nd District Council Member 
Utilities Committee, Chairperson    Residential Neighborhoods Committee, Member 

Community Investment Committee, Vice-Chairperson Personnel & Finance Committee, Member  

Zoning & Annexation Committee, Vice-Chairperson 

PARC Committee, Member  

 

SHARON L. MCBRIDE, 3rd District Council Member 
President 
Council Rules Committee, Member 

         

TROY WARNER, 4TH District Council Member 
Community Relations Committee, Chairperson  Health & Public Safety Committee, Member 

Utilities Committee, Vice-Chairperson            Personnel & Finance Committee, Member 

PARC Committee, Vice-Chairperson    Sub-Committee on the Minutes, Member  

               

ELI WAX, 5TH District Council Member 
Health & Public Safety Committee, Chairperson Utilities, Member 

Community Relations, Vice-Chairperson Sub-Committee on Minutes, Member  

Personnel & Finance, Vice-Chairperson  Council Rules Committee, Member 

Committee Investment, Member 

   

SHEILA NIEZGODSKI, 6TH District Council Member 

Vice-President 
Personnel & Finance Committee, Chairperson  Residential Neighborhoods Committee, Member 

Public Works & Property Vacation, Chairperson  Zoning & Annexation Committee, Member  

Council Rules Committee, Member  

                 

RACHEL TOMAS MORGAN, AT LARGE Council Member 
Information & Technology Committee, Chairperson           PARC Committee, Member         

Community Investment Committee, Chairperson  Personnel & Finance Committee, Member 

Health & Public Safety Committee, Member 

   

KAREN L. WHITE, AT LARGE Council Member 
Residential Neighborhoods Committee, Chairperson Public Works & Property Vacation, Member  

Health & Public Safety Committee, Vice-Chairperson  Zoning & Annexation Committee, Member  
  

LORI K. HAMANN, AT LARGE Council Member     
Zoning & Annexation Committee, Chairperson  Community Relations Committee, Member 

Public Works & Property Vacation, Vice-Chairperson Utilities Committee, Member  

Information & Technology Committee, Vice-Chairperson   

     



BILL NO. 22-41





































BILL NO. 30-22

















BILL NO. 36-22













BILL NO. 38-22





























BILL NO. 40-22





















BILL NO. 41-22













BILL NO. 42-22





Filed in Clerk' s Office

BILL NO. 42- 22
AUG 17 2022

DAWN M. JONES

ORDINANCE NO. CITY CLERK, SOUTH BEND, IN

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, 

REPLACING AND AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 2-1 THROUGH

AND INCLUDING 2-9, OF THE SOUTH BEND MUNICIPAL CODE TO UPDATE AND

CLARFY PROCEDURES FOR THE SOUTH BEND COMMON COUNCIL AND THE

OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE AND INTENT

Chapter 2, Article 1 ofthe South Bend Municipal Code sets forth several powers , duties

and obligations ofthe South Bend Common Council, its officers and members, and the Office of

the City Clerk. The last comprehensive review and revision ofmost ofthese ordinances occurred

in 1977. The last comprehensive review and revision ofmany ofthese ordinances before 1977

occurred in 1966. State and local governments have undergone many changes in the last forty-

five (45) years . One ofthe most significant changes has to do with the advent ofhow local

governments serve the public through changes mandated by national emergencies such as

COVID-19. The purpose and intent ofthese amendments to the Municipal Code are to update the

Code to comply with actual practices and procedures as developed over the last forty-five years, 

clarify practices and procedures which need additional explanation, and to establish new best

practices and procedures to better serve the public. 

Changes in these amendments reflect an intent to promote inclusivity by use ofgender-

neutral references to Council Members. Section 2-2(m) clarifies that the Council President shall

make the Council appointments to various boards, commissions , and committees . This authority



expedites the appointment process so as not to delay necessary actions by the boards, 

commissions and committees. Section 2-4(a) establishes the procedure for selecting a presiding

officer ofa Council meeting ifneither the President nor Vice-President is present at the

beginning ofthe meeting. 

Section 2-6( d)(l) clarifies that the presiding officer's duty to preserve strict order and

decorum applies to Council Members and the public. Section 2-6(e) clarifies that the election of

the Chairperson ofthe Committee ofthe Whole shall take place in the same manner as the

election ofthe President and Vice-President. 

Section 2-7( d) clarifies the votes ofeach Council Member shall be identified by name in

the minutes. 

Section 2-8(b) eliminates the phrase " unless excused or necessarily prevented from being

present" with respect to attendance at meetings. Neither State statute, nor the Municipal Code, 

addresses what constitutes being "excused." Council members who are absent for any reason will

be noted as such in the minutes . The amendment does not preclude an explanation for the

absence to be noted at the meeting. 

Section 2-9(v)(3)clarifies that any bill that does not conform to filing requirements , but not

rejected by the Clerk's Office may be rejected by the Council President and/or the Chairperson of

the Standing Committee having jurisdiction of the bill. Section 2-9(v)(6)establishes a procedure

whereby resolutions or ordinances proposed by Council Members are included on the agenda for

a Standing Committee or the full Council. Section 2-9(v) clarifies the procedure for Council

consideration ofa " special" or "commendation" resolution .Section 2-9(y) establishes a procedure

for one or more Council Members to present a " special proclamation" at a time and place other

than a Council meeting. 



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF

THE CITY OF SOUTH BEND, INDIANA, as follows: 

SECTION I. Chapter 2, Article 1, Sections 2-1 through and including 2-9 ofthe South Bend

Municipal Code shall be amended to read in their entirety as follows: 

Sec. 2- 1. Common Council: Composition; Council Members; eligibility; term; 

compensation; vacancy. 

a) The legislative power and authority ofthe City shall be vested in the Common Council. 

Unless otherwise provided by law, all powers and duties ofthe City which are legislative in

nature shall be exercised and performed by the Common Council. 

b) The Council shall consist ofnine (9) members termed Council Members; six (6) District

Council Members elected from districts more particularly described in section 1-4 ofthis

Code, and three (3) Council Members-at-Large elected at large from the entire City. 

c) To be eligible to run for the office ofCouncil Member all persons shall be a bona fide

citizen ofthe United States and the State oflndiana and shall have attained the age of

eighteen (18) years when elected. Additionally, all persons shall have been a resident ofthe

City for at least one year immediately preceding election; and for all persons to be eligible

to run for the office ofDistrict Council Member shall have resided in such district for the

last six ( 6) months preceding the general election. Should any Council Member representing

any district cease to be a resident ofsuch district during his or her term ofoffice, such office

shall thereby become immediately vacant. 

d) The election ofCouncil Members shall be in accordance with all laws governing primary

and general elections. The term ofoffice ofeach Council Member shall commence on the

first day ofJanuary after his or her election and shall continue for four (4) years thereafter. 

The Council Member's oath ofoffice shall be administered by a duly qualified person to

each Council Member, and such shall be signed and filed with the Office ofthe City Clerk

on or before said date. The salary ofeach Council Member shall be a specified amount as

set forth in the annual civil City budget. 

e) In the case ofa vacancy in the office ofCouncil Member from death, resignation or other

cause, such vacancy shall be filled pursuant to the procedure set forth in IC 3-13-8-1, 3-13-

8-7 and/or 3-13-11-1 et seq. However, ifthe vacancy is ofa District Council Member, the

person selected to fill such vacancy must be a resident ofthe district from which the vacated

Council Member was elected. All persons filling a vacated Council Member's office shall

hold office only during the unexpired term and shall, during such incumbency, be entitled to

the salary thereto attached. 

Sec. 2-2. Adoption of rules and regulations by the Common Council and powers thereto. 

a) The rules and regulations prescribed in this article are hereby adopted for the government of

the Common Council ofthe City and its Members. 



b) Any enumeration of powers in this Code shall not be held to limit the legislative powers of

the Council. 

c) The Council shall exercise any power or perform any function necessary and in the public

interest in conducting the municipal and internal affairs, which are not inconsistent with the

provisions of this Code or with the Constitution or Laws of the United States or the State of

Indiana. 

d) The Council shall have the power to adopt local laws deemed necessary for the effective

operation and conduct of government with respect to municipal and internal affairs and shall

provide for the enforcement of such laws and prescribe violation and punishment thereto. 

e) The Council shall have the authority to request or compel attendance of Council Members, 

other officers of the City, and other witnesses; and may require the production of documents

germane to matters being considered at meetings of the Council. 

f) The Council may discipline any member of the public who causes or attempts to cause

disorder or undue delay during a Council meeting. The Chairperson shall call the citizen to

order by a verbal reprimand. Ifremoval of the citizen is deemed necessary, a vote of two-

thirds (½) of the Council Members present shall authorize removal of said citizen from the

meeting. 

g) The Council shall have the power to discipline Council Members. 

h) The Council shall have the power to pass all ordinances, orders, resolutions and motions for

the government of the City; for the control of its property and finances; and for the

appropriation of money. 

i) The Council shall have the power to financially supervise and investigate all departments , 

officers and employees of the City and to examine any charge preferred against a

department, officer, or employee of the City, and to investigate the affairs of any person

with whom the City has entered or is about to enter into a contract. 

j) The Council shall have the power to manage the finances of the City subject to the powers

and duties vested in the executive departments. 

k) Each Council Member shall file a written report with the City Clerk within fourteen ( 14) 

days after attending any meeting, conference or seminar where public funds are used to

finance his or her attendance. The report shall include the following information: Name, 

date and place of meeting, conference or seminar; principal speakers and topics covered; 

brief descriptive narrative of the subject matter discussed; indication of whether written

handouts are available ; and name of Council Member in attendance. 

1) The annual amount of money budgeted for travel and promotional expenses and instruction

in the Common Council budget shall be divided equally among the nine ( 9) Council

Members . Any monies not used pursuant to such division may be allocated to another

Council Member upon his or her request, with informal Council approval. Council

Members using such funds shall comply with subsection ( k) of this section. The City Clerk

shall maintain an ongoing accounting of all such travel, promotional, and instruction

expenses by each Council Member of each calendar year. 

m) All Council appointments to various boards, commissions, and committees shall be made by

the President of the Common Council and take office the calendar year for which the



term(s) for such initial or renewal appointments( s) begin, except as provided by section 2-

10 regarding citizen appointments to standing committees ofthe Common Council. 

Sec. 2-3. Organization meeting of the Common Council; officers; election; terms. 

a) The members ofthe Common Council shall hold their first regular meeting on the first

Monday ofJanuary after their election at 7:30 p.m . in the Council Chambers. This meeting

shall take place at 5:00 p.m . on the first Monday ofeach succeeding January thereafter. 

b) At each first regular meeting, the Council shall choose from members a presiding officer or

president, a presiding officer pro tempore or vice-president, the Chairperson ofthe

Committee ofthe whole , and all other Council officers who shall serve until 7:00 p.m. of

the first Monday in January ofthe next succeeding year. The Council shall also choose its

Council Attorney at said meeting ifthe Council chooses to appoint a Council Attorney

pursuant to Sec. 2-7 .2( a) ofthis Article. 

Sec. 2-3.1. Mayor' s Annual Address to Council. 

a) The Mayor shall annually address the Common Council at the first regularly scheduled

Council meeting each February. 

b) The Mayor shall provide a statement of finances and a general condition ofthe City in his or

her annual address . 

c) Ifthe Council meeting location needs to be moved from the Council Chambers for the

Mayor's annual address in any calendar year, an announcement shall be made by the

Council President at the first or second regularly scheduled Common Council meeting in

December ofthe prior year under the " Special Business" portion ofthat meeting announcing

the exact location for that meeting. 

Sec. 2-4. Regular meetings of Common Council; calling of Council to order; Council

informal meetings. 

a) The regular meetings ofthe Common Council shall be held at the Council Chambers on the

second and fourth Monday evenings ofeach month at the hour of7 :00 p .m. Ifany regular

meeting date falls on a holiday established by Federal , State or City law , or ifa serious

conflict for the Council arises as to a meeting date , the Council , at its election at the last

preceding regular meeting, may meet on the regular meeting date or the next succeeding

night. The regular meeting may be rescheduled for any date or time by majority vote ofthe

Council. At the hour named, the President shall call the Common Council to order, and if

the President is absent , the Vice-President shall act in the President's stead. Ifthe latter is

absent, any member ofthe Common Council may, upon motion, passed by a majority of

Council Members present, be called to the Chair, and act as presiding officer only until the

arrival ofone entitled to preside. 

b) The President ofthe Council shall schedule Council informal meetings as necessary, giving

all Council Members reasonable notice in writing or by other appropriate means. Such

informal meetings shall be open to both the press and public as are all regular and special

meetings ofthe Council. The President shall call the Common Council to order at the

prescribed time , or in the President's absence, the Vice-President shall act in the President 's



stead. Although the parliamentary rules governing procedures for speech and debate may be

set aside at the discretion of the President at such informal meetings , all other rules and

regulations governing decorum and standards of conduct shall be in full force and effect

whenever a Council Member performs any of the duties, obligations and services mandated

by the Member' s office. 

Sec. 2-5. Special meetings of Common Council; procedure for notice, service of notice and

procedure for cancellation. 

a) Special meetings of the Common Council may be held on the call of the Mayor or of any

five ( 5) members of the Common Council. 

b) Such call shall be in writing, and specify therein the objects of the call, which is to say, the

particular purposes for which it is called. 

c) Such call shall be signed by the Mayor, or, when made by members of the Council, by

them, and sealed with the seal of the City and countersigned by the Clerk, or the Clerk' s

designee . 

d) Each member of the Council shall be notified of the holding of such special meeting by the

Chief of Police or any member of the police force , reading such call to them, or leaving a

certified copy thereof at the last and usual place of residence of any member that the officer

is not able to find; or having the City Clerk' s office calling each Council Member no later

than seventy- two ( 72) hours prior to such meeting and reading the same to them and leaving

a certified copy thereof at the last and usual place of residence. 

e) Only such business shall be transacted at such special meeting as is specifically stated in the

call for such special meeting. 

f) The minute record shall show the issuance of the call , and the service of notice thereof, for

which purpose the officer so serving such notice shall make return to the Clerk. 

g) In the event that following the call of a special meeting a determination is made to cancel

said special meeting the following procedure shall be followed: 

1) The Mayor or the members of the Common Council who signed the initial call for the

special meeting shall file a " cancellation notice of special meeting" with the Office of

the City Clerk. Said cancellation shall be duly signed by the individual( s) calling the

meeting and shall be sealed with the seal of the City and countersigned by the Clerk, or

the Clerk' s designee . 

2) Each member of the Council shall be notified of the cancellation of the special meeting

by the Chief of Police or any member of the police force , by reading such cancellation

to them, or by leaving a certified copy thereof at the last and usual place of residence of

any member that the officer is not able to find , or by having the City Clerk' s office call

each Council Member no later than twenty- four ( 24) hours prior to the date and time of

the meeting to be cancelled and reading the same to them and leaving a certified copy

thereof at the last and usual place of residence. 

3) Copies of the " call of special meeting" and " cancellation notice of special meeting" 

shall be sent to the news media by the Office of the City Clerk. 



Sec. 2-6. President of Common Council, powers and duties; Vice- President of Common

Council, powers and duties. 

a) The presiding officer or President ofthe Common Council , after being duly elected

pursuant to section 2-3 ofthis Code , and after taking the oath ofoffice, shall take the chair

and preside over all regular, special and informal meetings ofthe Council. 

b) The President shall call the Council to order at the hour for the opening ofthe meetings and

upon the appearance ofa quorum. 

c) The President or other presiding officer shall have the right to participate in the discussion

ofthe Council after all other Council Members have had an initial opportunity to speak on

an issue and shall have the right to vote on all matters, without taking leave ofthe chair. 

d) The President shall: 

1) Preserve strict order and decorum among Council Members and /or members ofthe

public; 

2) Decide all questions oforder, and such decisions shall be final unless appeals are taken

to the Council ; 

3) Appoint all standing committees at the commencement ofthe term ofthe Council ; 

provided that such standing committees shall serve only during the term ofthe

appointing President; 

4) Appoint all special committees which may be ordered by the Council ; 

5) Fill all vacancies which may occur in any ofthe standing or special committees ; 

6) Sign all ordinances and resolutions adopted by the Council prior to their presentation to

the Mayor, as well as all ordinances after enrollment, and the journal ofthe

proceedings ; 

7) Perform any function proper and necessary for the effective and efficient operation of

the President's office as deemed in the public interest. 

e) The Vice-President and the Chairperson ofthe Committee ofthe Whole ofthe Council shall

be elected at the same time and for the same term and manner as the President ofthe

Council. 

f) The Vice-President or other presiding officer shall possess the powers and perform the

duties ofthe President of the Council when the President is absent , or when a temporary

vacancy occurs in the Office ofthe President. 

Sec. 2- 7. Duties of City Clerk as Clerk of Council. 

a) The City Clerk shall be the Clerk ofthe Common Council. 

b) The City Clerk shall be elected by the voters ofthe City at the time and in the same manner

as other City officers are elected . The term ofoffice shall commence on the first day of

January following the Clerk's election and shall continue for four (4) years thereafter. 



c) The Clerk, or a designated representative of the Clerk' s Office, in addition to the powers and

duties enumerated in section 2- 14 of this Code, shall attend all regular and special meetings

of the Council and shall keep an accurate journal of the proceedings of the Council and

exercise and perform the powers and duties as provided and prescribed by law, this Code or

ordinances . The City Clerk' s Office shall prepare minutes without consultation with anyone

not a part of said office. 

d) The Clerk shall call the roll at the beginning of each session of the Council and on the vote

of every ordinance and resolution and whenever requested by two ( 2) members on any other

votes and record the ayes and nays by Council Member name in the minutes. 

e) The Council Members shall be called in the following order: First, the District Council

Members in the order of their districts ; next the Council Members- at- Large in alphabetical

order; last, the presiding officer. On all requested roll call votes when sitting as Committee

of the Whole, on all third readings of bills , and on all resolutions , the Clerk shall call the roll

rotating the call of each Council Member by one position. 

f) The Clerk shall provide and maintain in the City Clerk' s Office a supply of forms for all

matters required to be filed with the City Clerk. 

g) The Clerk shall hav e the power to administer oaths of office. 

h) The Clerk shall make available to the press and any other interested person, upon request, 

all public information which is available concerning the subjects to be discussed at any

regular, special or informal meetings of the Council , and shall also make available the time, 

date and place of such meetings. 

i) Upon the request of any Council Member or the Council Attorney on behalf of any Council

Member, the Office of the City Clerk shall provide other supportive clerical assistance and

other related services to the Council , its standing committees, and such other committees

which include Council representatives. Such services shall be provided to further effectuate

the necessary obligations, responsibilities and duties required of the Council Members and

to further the effective and efficient operation of the Council. 

U) The City Clerk' s Office shall maintain all minutes of the standing and special committees of

the Common Council which are duly filed with said office by the Chairperson of the

Committee. The minutes shall be maintained with the notices of such meetings in a separate

and permanent folder for each committee. All folders shall be open for public inspection

and available for copying at a reasonable cost to members of the public. 

Sec. 2- 7.1. Sergeant- at-Arms. 

a) The Chief of Police shall designate, detail and assign a police officer to act as sergeant- at-

arms for the Council who shall exercise duties as shall be designated by the Council. 

b) The Sergeant- at- Arms shall exercise and perform other duties as may be prescribed by this

Code and the laws of this State for the effective operation and conduct of the Council. 

Sec. 2-7.2. Council attorney. 

a) A Council attorney may be appointed by the President of the Common Council subject to

the approval of the Council. 



b) The Council attorney shall be responsible to see that all ordinances and resolutions

requested by Council Members are drafted ; shall review all proposed ordinances and

resolutions as to form and legality; shall advise the Office ofthe City Clerk as to all matters

regarding publication and codification ofordinances; and shall give legal advice as

requested by the Common Council , its committees and its members . 

Ord. No . 6114-77 , § 1; Ord. No. 7929-88 , § 1) 

Sec. 2-8. Decorum and debate regulating Common Council. 

a) The presiding officer shall preserve order and decorum at all Council meetings. When

necessary, the presiding officer may seek the assistance ofthe Sergeant-at-Arms in the

enforcement ofthis provision. 

b) Each member ofthe Common Council shall be present within the Council Chamber during

the sessions ofthe Council and shall vote on each question put unless excused from voting

by a majority ofthe members present. Any Council Member not present shall be noted in

the minutes as absent. 

c) A Council Member shall not vote or take any other discretionary action in the Member 's

official capacity, except in the exercise of the Member's own independent judgment, 

reached after due regard for the collective interests ofthe Member 's constituency as a

whole, and ofthe citizens and the community ofthe City ofSouth Bend. The prohibition in

this subsection extends to any agreement to take action in violation ofthis subsection and to

any effort to induce other Council Members to violate it. 

d) Whenever a Council Member has or is likely to have a substantial conflict of interest in

connection with a matter pending before the Council in which the Member 's action may be

influenced by possible economic benefits or material personal gain , the Member shall

disclose fully the nature ofthe potential conflict of interest, in which event the Member may

continue to participate in the deliberations and vote on the matter if it is determined by a

majority ofthe Council present that it is not a substantial conflict of interest. 

e) Whenever a Council Member has or is likely to have a substantial conflict of interest in

connection with any official matter other than one pending before the Council, the Member

shall either: 

1) Disqualify himself or herself from further participation in the proceeding ; or

2) Conduct himselfor herself in accordance with an advisory opinion from the Council

Rules Committee. 

f) Council Members shall not derive or attempt to derive any unjustified enrichment from their

office. This subsection forbids: 

1) The solicitation or acceptance ofany bribe, or any gift , or other material , economic or

personal benefit, or ofany promise ofsimilar benefit, which the Member believes or

reasonably should believe was intended to influence the Member 's vote or other action

to be taken in the Member's official capacity; or



2) The solicitation or acceptance ofany gift or other economic or personal benefit

conferred because ofany vote or other action in the Member' s official capacity already

taken by the Member; or

3) The acquisition or use for personal purposes ofany property, services or funds ofthe

City , unless authorized by law; or

4) The use for personal gain ofinformation pertaining to the City ofSouth Bend, which is

not a matter ofpublic record, at a time when it is treated as confidential by the officials

ofthe City. 

g) When any Council Member is about to speak or deliver any matter to the Council, he or she

shall respectfully address himself or herself to the presiding officer, and upon being

recognized, confine himself or herself to the question in debate , and avoid personality, the

presiding officer shall not recognize any Council Member as in order, unless he or she is in

his or her proper seat. 

h) When two (2) or more Members seek recognition at once, the presiding officer shall name

the Member entitled to speak. 

i) No member shall speak more than twice nor for more than five (5) minutes on the second

occasion, upon any one ( 1) question or issue in debate during the same meeting. A member

shall only be granted the right to speak a second time on the same question or issue after

each member has had an opportunity to speak on said issue or question. 

j) While the presiding officer is putting the question or addressing the Council , no Member

shall walk out ofor across the Council Chamber or engage in private discourse. 

k) No Member shall impugn the motive ofanother. 

1) Any member may change their vote before the announcement ofthe result by the presiding

officer. 

m) Ifany Member, in speaking or otherwise, shall transgress the rules ofthe Council , the

presiding officer shall , or any Member may, call that Member to order, in which case the

Member shall immediately cease the transgression unless permitted, on motion ofanother

Member, to explain; and the Council shall , ifappealed to, decide the case without debate by

a majority vote ofthe Members present. Ifthe decision is in favor ofthe Member called to

order, that Member shall be at liberty to proceed, but not otherwise, and ifthe case requires

it , that Member shall be liable to the censure ofthe Council. 

n) Should any Council Member, in the course ofthe Member's remarks , violate a second time

any rule ofthe Council , and again be called to order that Member shall not speak further

upon the pending question , except by permission oftwo-thirds(½) ofthe members present. 

o) Each Council Member shall observe the highest standards ofdignity , propriety, courtesy, 

respect and decorum when with other Council Members, officers and employees ofthe City, 

and all other persons , and when carrying out any ofthe responsibilities, duties and services

allowed or mandated by the office ofa Council Member. 

p) Unless excused in advance by the presiding officer, persons in the Council Chambers and in

the Council Informal Meeting Room shall tum all cell phones , and any other electronic

devices to silent mode when the Common Council is in session and when any Standing



Committee meeting is in progress . Council Members and citizen members ofany Standing

Committee may not send, view or listen to any electronic message communications while a

Council or citizen member is part ofthe quorum for such meeting or while such meeting is

in progress. Any electronic device which is used through City-controlled access and which

is needed during the Common Council or any Standing Committee is permitted for the

purpose ofaccessing city information, city presentations , and to record minutes and notes . 

q) As used in this Article, "electronic device" means a wireless and/or portable electronic

handheld piece ofequipment that includes , but is not limited to , existing and emerging

mobile communication systems and smart technologies ( cell phones , smart phones walkie-

talkies , pagers , etc.) portable internet devices ( mobile managers, mobile messengers , 

BlackBerry T handset , etc.) Personal Digital Assistants ( PDAs), ( Palm organizers , pocket

PCs , etc.) and any other convergent communication technologies that do any number ofthe

previously mentioned functions. " Electronic device" also includes any current or emerging

wireless handheld technologies or portable information technology systems that can be used

for word processing, wireless internet access and information transmitting/ receiving, etc. 

Tape recorders , cameras , and hearing aids3 shall be excluded from the definition of

electronic devices" as used in this Article. Emergency communication devices used by

sworn police officers and medical first responders who are in attendance ofa Common

Council or Standing Committee meeting shall be in excluded from the provisions ofthis

Article. 

3 Hearing aids are defined by the National Institute ofDeafness and Other Communication

Disorders ( NIDCD) as a " small electronic device that you wear in or behind an ear which is

designed to make some sounds louder so that a person with hearing loss can listen, communicate

and participate more fully in daily activities." 



Sec. 2-8.1. Parliamentarian of the Common Council. 

a) The Council Attorney or in the Council Attorney 's absence , the City attorney , or designate

ofthe City Legal Department, shall act as Parliamentarian ofthe Common Council at all

general , special and committee meetings ofthe Council. 

b) The Parliamentarian shall decide all procedural questions only upon request ofany Council

Member during a meeting. Such decisions shall be advisory in nature. 

c) The Parliamentarian shall have in the Parliamentarian' s possession the appropriate rules and

regulations governing the Council at all general , special and committee meetings. 

d) Any advisory decision made by the Parliamentarian may be accepted or rejected by the

Council, and once acted upon by the presiding officer, the presiding officer's decision may

then be subject to further appropriate action by the Council. 

Sec. 2-9. Parliamentary procedure for the Common Council. 

a) The most recent edition ofRobert's Rules ofOrder shall be the authority on all questions of

parliamentary law and procedure not specifically covered by this article . For the purposes of

this article , parliamentary law shall mean the enacted rules and recognized usages which

govern the procedure oflegislative assemblies. 

b) A majority ofall the Council Members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of

business ofthe Council. It shall require a majority vote ofall the Council Members to pass

an ordinance or resolution. Whenever by law it is required that any ordinance or resolution

shall be passed by a two-thirds(½) vote , such requirement shall be construed to mean a

two-thirds(½) vote ofall Council Members. 

c) No one not a member ofCouncil shall be permitted to address the same, except upon

invitation by the presiding officer or by a majority vote ofthe Council. 

d) No ordinance or resolution shall be received or considered by the Council unless it is

presented by a member thereof, a duly authorized member ofthe City Administration, or as

otherwise provided by law. 

e) Every motion made by any member ofthe Council and entertained by the presiding officer

shall be reduced to writing on the demand ofany member. 

f) When a motion has been made, the presiding officer shall state it , or if in writing, shall

cause it to be read aloud by the Clerk before being debated ; and it shall then be in the

possession ofthe Council , but may be withdrawn at any time before a decision or

amendment. 

g) Abstention: When in order to enact an ordinance, resolution or motion, State law requires a

majority ofthe Council to vote " aye," the following procedures shall be applicable in

calculating said majority: 

1) Only Council Members who have disqualified themselves on a matter due to a

substantial conflict of interest or have disclosed fully the nature oftheir conflict of

interest pursuant to the provisions ofthis article are entitled to an abstention. 

2) Abstentions shall not be counted as either an " aye" or "nay" vote. 



h) The presiding officer shall decide whether any question is carried by affirmative or a

negative vote ; but if the presiding officer is in doubt, and the " ayes" and " nays" or a division

be called for , the presiding officer shall call for a roll call vote. 

i) When a question is under debate, no motion shall be received, but to adjourn, for the

previous question ( which motion shall be decided without debate), to lay on the table, to

postpone to a day certain , to refer, to amend , or to postpone indefinitely, which several

motions shall have preference in the order in which they are here arranged. 

j) The motion to adjourn and the motion to fix a time to which the Council shall adjourn shall

always be in order, the latter motion taking precedence over the former. 

k) The motion to lay an amendment on the table shall not affect the subject which it is

proposed to amend. 

1) A " call for question" motion shall be proper after each member present has had the

opportunity to address the specific issue under debate. Said motion shall not require a

second and upon such a motion all debate shall cease. The presiding officer shall then repeat

the " call for question" motion pending before the Council and ask for a voice vote on said

issue. 

m) The motion to postpone to a date certain can be amended by altering the time. 

n) The motion to commit may be amended by altering the committee or by giving instructions. 

o) A motion to amend and a motion to amend that amendment shall be in order, and it shall

also be in order to offer a further amendment by way of substitute, to which one ( 1) 

amendment may be offered , but neither may be withdrawn before amendment or decision is

had thereon. 

p) No motion or proposition postponed indefinitely shall be taken up again at the same or next

succeeding meeting. 

q) A question shall be divided on the demand of any member if it includes two ( 2) or more

distinct propositions. 

r) A motion to strike out and insert shall be indivisible, but a motion to strike out being lost

shall neither preclude amendment, nor motion to strike out and insert, and no motion or

proposition on a subject different from that under consideration shall be submitted under

color of amendment. 

s) Motion to reconsider: When a motion has been made and carried or lost, it shall be in order

for any member of the majority at the same or the next regular meeting, to move for the

reconsideration thereof. Such a motion upon being made may be seconded by any Council

Member and may be made at any time. It shall be debatable and requires a majority vote to

prevail. No such motion shall be introduced at a subsequent meeting unless the member

intending to make the same shall have given written notice of such intention at the meeting

at which the vote which he or she desires to have reconsidered was taken. 

t) When a resolution is offered or a report or other matter presented, the presiding officer may

take the reception thereof for granted, unless objection be made, when a formal motion shall

be required. 



u) Appeals, questions of order, objections to the consideration of a question, the reading of

papers, leave to withdraw a motion and suspension of the rules are questions which shall

take precedence over and be decided before the question which gave rise to them; which

several questions cannot be amended, and all questions of order which may arise pending a

question which is not debatable must be decided without debate. 

v) Form of ordinances and resolutions: All legislation of the City shall be by ordinance or by

resolution. The word " resolution" as used in this chapter shall be the official action of the

Council, and shall be limited to matters authorized by local, State or Federal law, and to

matters pertaining to the internal affairs or operations of City Government. All resolutions

shall be assigned a bill number by the City Clerk' s office upon being properly filed with the

City Clerk' s office. Each resolution must have a short title identifying the subject matter of

the resolution, followed by " whereas" clauses which set forth the background information of

the resolution. Following the end of the " whereas" portion, the next paragraph shall begin

with the words " Now, therefore, be it resolved by the Common Council of the City of South

Bend, Indiana, as follows:" and a section by section format shall follow thereafter. If the

resolution is adopted by the Common Council and approved by the Mayor, the City Clerk' s

Office shall assign it a resolution number. 

All matters of a general and permanent nature which address issues addressed in the South

Bend Municipal Code, which establish fees, or which regulate conduct, or which prescribe

penalties, shall be submitted in the form of an ordinance. Each ordinance shall be identified with

a bill number assigned by the City Clerk' s office upon proper filing with that Office. Each

ordinance must have a short title, and must specifically refer to the chapter, article and section of

the Code, when it proposes an amendment to the South Bend Municipal Code. Ordinances shall

be numbered in the order they are passed but shall be listed on the Council' s agenda as they are

introduced for filing, except when the Council may direct otherwise. 

The following format shall be used when introducing a proposed ordinance for Council

consideration: 

1) Each bill filed for ordinance consideration shall begin after a preliminary " Statement of

Purpose and Intent" which shall set forth the overall purpose( s) of the bill, as well as

relevant background information addressing governing local, State or Federal law or

policies. Following the end of the statement of purpose and intent, the next paragraph

shall begin with the words: " Now therefore, be it ordained by the Common Council of

the City of South Bend, Indiana, as follows:" with a section by section format

following thereafter. 

2) All bills filed for ordinance consideration which propose to amend the South Bend

Municipal Code must include a detailed summary of the proposed changes in the

statement of purpose and intent. All such bills must use one ( 1) of the following

formats: 

a. Following the statement of purpose and intent section, the introductory sentence

to the first section must include the words " Chapter __ , Article __ , Section

of the South Bend Municipal Code shall be amended to read in its entirety

as follows"; or



b. Following the statement ofpurpose and intent section, the introductory sentence

to each section ofthe South Bend Municipal Code which proposes new language

must set forth the proposed new language in bold type or may underline such

proposed new language and must show the deletion ofcurrent words with a dash

through such language, so long as that utilizing this format does not cause undue

confusion. 

3) Any bill submitted to be considered for ordinance consideration which does not

conform to the applicable requirements ofthis section may be rejected by the City

Clerk's Office when presented for filing . Any non-conforming bill not rejected by the

City Clerk's office may be rejected by the Council President and/or the Chairperson of

the standing committee having jurisdiction over the substance ofthe bill. 

4) All proposed resolutions and ordinances must be accompanied by a separate cover

letter from the party initiating such resolution or ordinance. Each such letter must

clearly identify the salient points ofthe proposed resolution or ordinance and must

identify the person who will be giving the presentation at the public hearing, if

different from the person signing the letter. Any proposed resolution or ordinance

which is not accompanied by such a letter may be rejected by the City Clerk's Office

when presented for filing. 

5) Resolutions or ordinances proposed by the City Administration should when at all

possible and in the interest offurthering better communications between the

administrative and legislative branches , have the proposed resolution or ordinance

signed by the Chairperson ofthe Standing Committee which has jurisdiction over the

subject matter addressed in the proposed legislation. 

6) Resolutions or ordinances proposed by one or more Council members should , when at

all possible and in the interest offurthering better communications between Council

members and expediting consideration ofbills , have the proposed resolution or

ordinance reviewed and signed by the Chairperson ofthe Standing Committee which

has jurisdiction over the subject matter addressed in the proposed legislation. Any such

proposed resolution or ordinance not signed by the Chairperson ofthe Standing

Committee which has jurisdiction over the subject matter addressed in the proposed

legislation will not be considered by a Standing Committee or the Council unless three

3) or more Council members are cosponsors ofthe bill. 

7) The party initiating any legislation which is amended during the Common Council's

public hearing, must file a complete original ofsuch amended legislation with the

Office ofthe City Clerk, by the next business day. 

8) If the proposed ordinance is passed by the Common Council and approved by the

Mayor, the City Clerk's Office shall assign it an ordinance number. 

9) Any substitute proposed resolution or substitute proposed ordinance filed with the City

Clerk for Council consideration which is filed to replace an original filing with that

office, must be accompanied with a cover letter which summarizes the changes being

recommended in the substitute version. 

10) The signatory section for a bill or proposed resolution shall read as follows: 



Member of the Common Council

Attest: 

City Clerk

Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of South Bend, Indiana, on the __ day of

at ___ o'clock . m. 

City Clerk

Approved and signed by me on the ___ day of ___ , at ___ o'clock

m. 

Mayor of the City of South Bend, Indiana

w) Every bill filed for ordinance consideration shall be read a total of three ( 3) times by title by

the Clerk. If a bill' s title was amended in the Committee of the Whole, the amended title

shall be read by the Clerk at third reading . No bill shall be read the third time at the same

meeting it is introduced unless by unanimous roll call vote of all Council Members present. 

Additionally, there must be at least two- thirds(½) of the entire Council present to carry

such a motion. 

The City Clerk shall read by title only all bills filed for first reading. At that time, the

Council may send the bill to a proper Council Committee for review and recommendation, if

appropriate, and set a date for second reading, public hearing and third reading. At the time of

public hearing before the Committee of the Whole of the Council , on said bill, the Clerk shall

read the bill by number and title only. When amendments to bills are approved by the Council

which amend the title of said bill , the Clerk shall read the amended title on second and/ or third

reading( s). The bill shall receive a third reading by title only, after which a formal vote of the

Common Council shall be taken on the bill. 

x) No bill filed for ordinance consideration or proposed resolution shall appear on the agenda

of a regular meeting of the Common Council unless said bill or proposed resolution has

been properly filed in the Office of the City Clerk on or before the Wednesday at 12 :00

noon immediately prior to said regular meeting. All such filings shall be on eight and one-

half by eleven inch ( 8 ½" x 11 ") white paper and/ or filed electronically with the Office of

the City Clerk, along with a proper cover letter as further addressed in subsection ( v)(4) of

this section. In matters dealing with proposed rezonings , tax abatements , vacations of public

property, variances and special exceptions, or any other matter where a petition or other

document is required at time of filing , all required attachments must be filed at time of filing

the bill or proposed resolution. Any exhibits referenced in a bill or proposed resolution must

accompany the document at time of filing . In the event that a filing is not complete, the

Office of the City Clerk may reject a proposed filing as further addressed in subsection

v)(3) of this section. Special or Commendation resolutions may be filed on eight and one-

halfby fourteen inch ( 8 ½" x 14") white paper and/ or filed electronically with the Office of

the City Clerk. This subsection is not applicable to special meetings. The City Clerk' s office

may reject all ordinances and resolutions not meeting the filing deadline, or in the



alternative, may schedule such late filing(s) for the next subsequent Council meeting

agenda. The Clerk's Office shall immediately notify the Council President , the Chairperson

ofthe Standing Committee which has jurisdiction over the proposed bill and the sponsor(s) 

ofthe proposed bill if the bill has been rejected or scheduled for the next subsequent

Council meeting agenda. 

y) The City Clerk's office may reject all such resolutions not meeting the filing deadline, or in

the alternative , may schedule such late filing(s) for the next subsequent Council meeting

agenda. The Clerk's Office shall immediately notify the Council President and the

sponsor(s) of the proposed bill ifthe bill has been rejected or scheduled for the next

subsequent Council meeting agenda. The "Special" or "Commendation" resolution may , in

the President's sole discretion , be placed on the agenda ofthe upcoming Council meeting. 

Such resolutions shall not be assigned to a Standing Committee and shall be subject to a

voice vote , not a roll call vote. 

z) " Special Proclamations" may be presented by one or more Council members on their own

behalf to individuals , groups or organizations at any time and place other than a Council

meeting. 

aa) When a bill is introduced , it shall be read by title by the City Clerk after which the presiding

officer shall entertain a motion for disposition . 

bb) The third reading ofthe bill shall be by title, after which the presiding officer shall state that

This is the third reading ofthe bill, the question is shall the bill pass?" 

cc) Any bill may be stricken from the files at any time before passage by a two-thirds(½) vote

ofall members elected . 

dd) Any bill failing to receive a sufficient number ofvotes on final passage will be considered

as lost and stricken from the files, provided the vote is not reconsidered, as authorized by

subsection( s) ofthis section . 

ee) All votes upon the passage ofbills and resolutions, and upon motions to suspend the rules

or motions to reconsider shall be by roll call. 

ff) When a resolution is introduced, it shall be read by title only, after which, ifthere is no

objection, it shall stand ready for adoption following its public hearing. If there is objection, 

it shall be in order for any member to make a proper motion for disposition ofthe

resolution. 

gg) No proposition to rescind or change any standing rule or order ofthe Common Council shall

be passed at the same meeting it is submitted ; nor shall any proposition having the force and

effect ofa bylaw or a standing rule or other relating to the government ofthe Council or the

duties ofany ofthe City officers by passed except in the form ofan ordinance and

according to the forms prescribed for the passage ofordinances. 

hh) Effective date : The effective date ofall bills shall be prescribed therein; however, no bill

prescribing a penalty or forfeiture for a violation shall become effective before publication

in the manner prescribed by IC 36-4-6-14(b) or (c). 

ii) Severability: Unless a bill shall expressly provide to the contrary, ifany portion ofa bill or

the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall be found to be invalid by a

court ofcompetent jurisdiction such invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion or



application, provided such remaining portions or applications are not determined by the

court to be inoperative and to this end bills are declared to be severable. 

jj) The presiding officer may, upon a member ofthe public being recognized to address the

Council, limit him or her to no more than five (5) minutes , unless a majority of the Council

Members present vote to extend such period. 

kk) Each member ofthe public who wishes to be recognized by the presiding officer in order to

speak during a public hearing, must give his or her name and address for the record. 

11) No member ofthe public may speak twice on the same issue unless a majority ofthe

Council Members present vote to allow such a second presentation. A three-minute limit

shall apply to such a second presentation. 

SECTION II. This Ordinance shall take effect upon passage by this Common Council, approval

by the Mayor, and any publication required by law. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of South Bend, Indiana

this ____ day of _______ ~ 2022. 

ATTEST : 

Dawn M. Jones , Clerk

Sharon McBride, President Common Council

ofthe City ofSouth Bend

Presented by me, the undersigned Clerk of the City of South Bend, to the Mayor of the

City for his approval on the ___ day of ______ , 2022 , at ___ o'clock

m. 

Dawn M. Jones , Clerk



Having examined the foregoing Ordinance , I do now , as the Mayor of the City of South Bend , 

approve said Ordinance and return the same to the Clerk of the City of South Bend this __ _ 

day of _____ ~ 2022. 

James Mueller, Mayor



































































BILL NO. 43-22
























